IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

JUN 22 1983

WHITE

JRT

1

CHARLES LEWIS BURR,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 62,365

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

Model Penal Code, Section 201.6(1)(f) (Proposed Official Draft, 1962) 42,45,46,47

ŕ

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES LEWIS BURR,		:	
	Appellant,	:	
v.		:	CASE NO. 62,365
STATE OF FLORIDA,		:	
	Appellee.	:	

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Burr is the appellant in this case. The record on appeal consists of nine volumes. References to the record will be indicated by the letter "R", references to the transcript by the letter "T", and references to the supplemental record by the letters "SR".

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment returned by the Leon County grand jury on October 29, 1981, charged Charlie Lewis Burr with first degree murder and robbery with a firearm (R-1-2). Subsequently the state filed a notice of intent to rely on similar fact evidence (R-37-38).

Responding to these actions, Burr's counsel filed a motion to dismiss the indictment alleging racial discrimination in the selection of Grand Jury Foremen (R-53-54) and a motion in limine regaring similar fact evidence. The court denied both motions (R-269; T-392).

Burr proceeded to the guilt phase portion of his trial on June 8, 1982, before the Honorable Charles E. Miner, and during his case in chief, the state presented its similar fact evidence. Three men who worked at convenience stores in Brevard County said Burr robbed and shot them while they were at work (T-975-1015). In a subsequent trial of one of these robberies/shootings, however, Burr was acquitted of those crimes (see enclosure to motion to supplement the record filed in this Court on April 8, 1983).

Following the court's denial (T-1077) of Burr's motion for a judgment of acquittal, the state's key witness, Domita Williams, took the stand and recanted the testimony she had given for the state (T-1237-1238). The state put on a case in rebuttal after which the court instructed the jury. The jury found Burr quilty as charged on both counts (R-290-292).

^{1.} During the hearing on the motion to dismiss, the court incorporated the transcript of testimony taken at a similar motion in another case. By way of a motion to supplement the record, those transcripts have been made a part of this record of appeal.

At the sentencing phase of the trial, the state presented no additional evidence, but Burr presented several witnesses who said he was a good man and had been raised a Christian (T-435-451).

After arguments and instructions, the jury returned a recommendation that Burr live (R-292). The court, rejecting the jury's recommendation, sentenced Burr to death (R-321-323). The court also sentenced Burr to 99 years in prison for the armed robbery and retained jurisdiction over the first third of that sentence (R-322).

In sentencing Burr to death, the court found in aggravation:

1. That the murder was committed during the course of a robbery.

2. That the murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest.

3. That the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any moral or legal justification.

(R-311-320).

The court found nothing in mitigation (R-320).

Subsequently, Burr's appellate counsel filed a motion to supplement the record with key portions of Burr's Brevard County trial in which he was found not guilty. This Court denied that motion.

Counsel also filed a motion to relinquish jurisdiction to clarify the record on appeal. This motion was based upon the trial court's private discussions with the jury (T-472) and certain language used in its sentencing order that indicated that it may have had access to non-record information not available to Burr's counsel (R-319).

In response to this Court's order directing it to say whether or not is had considered any non-record information, the trial court said

-2-

that "no information relating to the guilt or innocence or sentencing phase of the proceedings was requested, given or received."

This appeal follows.

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

PRELIMINARY NOTICE

One of the primary arguments presented by this appeal is that the state did not present substantial, competent evidence of Burr's guilt. <u>Tibbs v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981), affirmed, __U.S.__, 72 L.Ed.2d 652, 102 S.Ct.__ (1982). Because that is an unusual argument to make on appeal, and because Domita Williams, the state's key witness, recanted her prosecution testimony when called by Burr, the statement of the facts has been divided into two parts: The state's case and the defendant's case.

I. The state's case

By August 20, 1981, Domita Williams and Charlie Burr had been going together for two or three weeks and were talking of marriage (T-832,856). About 6:30 that morning Burr drove his car to Williams' house so he could take Williams to work (T-832). Burr went inside and 15 or 20 minutes later, or shortly before 7:00 a.m. (T-833-834), the couple left the house and headed west on Highway 27 towards Tallahassee (T-833). About 7:00 a.m. or a little later (T-834) Burr pulled into the parking lot of a "Suwannee Swiftee" convenience store and waited while Williams went inside (T-834). About five to ten minutes later (T-850) she came out of the store with a cheeseburger and candy bar (T-834). Burr then got out of the car and went inside (T-835). Williams began eating her sandwich and only looked up when she heard a shot (T-836-837). Burr, smiling,

-3-

got into the car and, seeing that Williams was crying, he asked her what was wrong (T-837). Williams saw the imprint of a gun in his pants (R-838).

Kim Miller, a customer, stopped at the Suwannee Swiftee about 7:00 a.m. and found the body of Steve Hardy, the clerk, lying over an open safe (T-866,871). Hardy had been shot behind the ear with a .22 caliber bullet (T-913); death was instantaneous (T-968). At 7:09 a.m. a dispatcher from the police department received Miller's telephone call reporting the incident (T-868). The police responded and within minutes they had cordoned off the area (T-874). They found, however, no fingerprints or hairs to tie Burr to the murder (T-886). \$252.75 had been taken from the store (T-877).

About 8:00 a.m. (T-853) Williams arrived at the Worthington Park Apartments where Burr lived with a Katrina Jackson and her husband (T-918). Tammy Footman, a cousin of Williams, was also there. Williams entered the apartment alone (T-840). She acted nervous (T-1345) and asked if they had heard about the Suwannee Swiftee robbery (T-1357). Williams said that she had bought a cheeseburger there while Burr was inside, and on the way out she had heard a shot. She then got into the car and left (T-1357, 957). Whether she left by herself or with Burr is uncertain (T-1358). Burr came into the apartment a few minutes later (T-1346), and like Williams, he also acted differently (T-1358-1359). He began packing his bags and a short time later Williams and Burr left (T-1360).

At work sometime later, Williams asked her supervisor, Katherine Haygood, if she had heard about the robbery (T-1135). Although Williams

-4-

could not recall what she had told Haygood (T-841), Haygood said Williams (who was calm) (T-1139) told her she had bought a soda inside the store about 8:00 or 8:30 that morning (T-1138), and while inside she had seen a white boy in bluejeans walking up and down the aisles. Williams then left the store but drove by a short while later and saw several police cars outside the store (T-1137). Although Haygood encouraged Williams to call the police (T-1138), Williams never did (T-842).

Burr picked up Williams after work, and the pair drove to Melbourne for the weekend (T-843). Burr took with him a box of .22 caliber guns which he sold in Melbourne (T-844). Despite what had happened, and although Williams claimed she was afraid of Burr (T-856), she did not look like she was afraid of him (T-960), they continued to act like a couple in love (T-960), and they were still talking of marriage (T-856). (Burr had never threatened Williams (T-863)).

Emil Ferrell worked at a "Majik Market" in Palm Bay which is in the vicinity of Melbourne. On Saturday evening, August 22nd, he got a phone call at home from someone asking him who was working at the store the next morning (T-978). Ferrell said he was. The next morning, Sunday, he got another phone call asking who was working (T-978). Again, Ferrell said he was.

About 8:00 a.m. Burr came into Ferrell's store and stood by the microwave oven until the store was empty. He approached Ferrell and asked him if his name was Ferrell. He said yes, and Burr asked him if he had even seen him. Ferrell said no. Burr then pulled out a gun and said "I'm going to kill you. Open the register." (T-1052). Burr told him

-5-

two more times to open the register. Without getting any money (T-1053), Burr shot Ferrell twice (T-1052).

With Burr still in the store, Ferrell ran outside and asked a customer, who had just driven up, for help (T-1055). The man fled and Burr came out of the store, jumped into a rather small, old blue or green car, and left (T-1058).

About midnight on August 28, 1981, James Griffen worked in a Majik Market in Port Malibar, also near Melbourne (T-991). Burr came in, and as Griffen rang up his purchase, Burr pulled out a gun and said, "Give me all your money and don't be no fool." (T-1063). After Griffen had given him the money, Burr stepped back and shot Griffen once in the abdomen. Griffen said he, "would get him for this," and turned. Burr shot him in the left elbow then left in a brown or marroon car (T-665).

Lloyd Lee was working in a 7-11 convenience store in Melbourne about midnight on September 8, 1981 (T-1069). A man Lee later said was Burr came into the store, got some items, and came to the cash register (T-1070). As Lee rang up the items, Burr pulled out a gun and demanded money (T-1070). After getting the money, he told Lee to "be cool" then turned to leave. He turned back, however, and shot Lee twice (T-1070).²

II. The defense's case

A series of customers arrived at the Suwannee Swiftee on August 20,

^{2.} Although Lee was sure of Burr's identity beyond a shadow of a doubt, Burr was subsequently acquitted of this robbery. See attachment to Burr's motion to supplement record filed with this Court on April 8, 1983.



1981, from shortly before 7:00 a.m. until approximately 7:10 a.m. All saw Steve Hardy alive.

Clarence Lowman arrived about 6:50 a.m. and left right after 7:00 a.m. (T-1078). As he was leaving, two other cars drove up (T-1078). Vincent Prichard drove up around 7:00 a.m. As he left the store, he saw a black man wearing glasses walk towards the store, stop, then walk away (T-1082-1083). A tall, young man drove up as Prichard drove off (T-1083). Although Prichard drove away, two minutes later he drove past the store after he had picked up some men (T-1086). As he drove by he saw Kim Miller, a friend of his, pull into the store (T-1086).

John Thompson pulled into the store about six minutes after seven (T-1096) and parked next to a blue Ford (T-1102). When he went inside, he saw Hardy, who was acting unusual, like he had something else on his mind (T-1106). Another man, not resembling Burr, stood at the back of the store by the cooler (T-1109). He acted suspiciously, like he was just passing the time (T-1116).

On August 20th, Domita Williams drove her mother (Minnie Pompey) to work about 6:30 a.m. (T-1156). Pompey worked at a day care center about a 20 minutes drive from where she lived, and that morning Pompey "punched in" at 6:56 a.m. (T-1157). Williams stayed for a few minutes to put her child into the center, and about five or ten minutes after seven she started on the 20 minute trip back home (T-1158).

Shortly after 7:00 a.m. Ruth Grant and her daughter Valerie were heading west toward Florida State University along Highway 27. They passed the Suwannee Swiftee and saw several police cars there (T-1194). A short time later, they saw an ambulance heading towards the Suwannee Swiftee and seconds later. Domita Williams, a relative of theirs, passed,

-7-

also apparently heading home and passed the Suwannee Swiftee (T-1195).

Thursday, August 20, was the first day Domita Williams had to report to work at the Sunland Training Center in Tallahassee (T-1269). Because she did not have a car of her own, she drove her mother to work so she could use her mother's car (T-1269). As she returned home, she passed by the Suwannee Swiftee store and saw several police cars there (T-1270). She was at work by 9:00 a.m., and about 5:00 or 6:00 p.m., she saw Burr and he stayed with her that evening (T-1271-1272).

Several weeks later, when Detective Ash of the Leon County Sheriff's Office focused his murder investigation upon Burr, Williams and their group, he questioned Williams. When she talked with Ash, she felt scared because Ash told her that he had enough evidence to lock her up without bail (T-857). He also told her he could arrest her as an accessory after the fact (T-1388) and for withholding information (T-1166). Scared by Ash's threats (T-1261), and not knowing what to do (T-1293), Williams answered Ash's leading questions implicating Burr (T-1226,1313).

IV ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING BURR'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT AFTER BURR HAD ESTA-BLISHED AN UNREBUTTED PRIMA FACIE CASE OF DIS-CRIMINATION AGAINST MEMBERS OF HIS RACE IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION WITH REGARD TO THE SELECTION OF GRAND JURY FOREMEN.

For nearly a century, the United States Supreme Court has held that a criminal conviction of a black citizen cannot stand under the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution if it is based on an indictment of a grand jury from which black citizens

-8-

have been excluded by reason of their race. <u>Alexander v. Louisiana</u>, 405 U.S. 625, 92 S.Ct. 1221, 31 L.Ed.2d 536 (1972); <u>Bush v. Kentucky</u>, 107 U.S. 110, 1 S.Ct. 625, 27 L.Ed. 354 (1883); <u>Eubanks v. Louisiana</u>, 356 U.S. 584, 78 S.Ct. 970, 2 L.Ed.2d 991 (1958); and see <u>Castaneda v. Partida</u>, 430 U.S. 482, 97 S.Ct. 1272, 51 L.Ed.2d 498 (1977), n.12. Accordingly, where sufficient proof of discrimination has been presented and not rebutted, the United States Supreme Court has consistently required that the conviction be set aside and the indictment returned by the grand jury be quashed. See <u>Castaneda</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Rose v. Mitchell</u>, 443 U.S. 545, 99 S.Ct. 2993, 61 L.Ed.2d 739 (1979). Further, the court has extended this result where sufficient unrebutted proof of racial discrimination is established with regard to the selection of grand jury foremen. Rose v. Mitchell, supra.

In <u>Rose</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Supreme Court quoted from <u>Castaneda</u>, <u>supra</u>, as to what proof is required to establish a prima facie case of racial discrimination with regard to selection of a grand jury foreman:

> The first step is to establish that the group is one that is a recognizable, distinct class, singled out for different treatment under the laws, as written or as applied...Next, the degree of underrepresentation must be proved, by comparing the proportion of the group in the total population to the proportion called to serve as [foreman], over a significant period of time. ...This method of proof, sometimes called the "rule of exclusion," has been held to be available as a method of proving discrimination in jury selection against a delineated class... Finally... a selection procedure that is susceptible of abuse or is not racially neutral supports the presumption of discrimination raised by the statistical showing.

Rose at 443.

Turning now to the case at bar, there is no question, of course, that

-9-

appellant, a black citizen, is a member of a group cognizable as a distinct class capable of being singled out for different treatment under the laws. Rose v. Mitchell, supra, at 443 U.S. 565.

Further, the grand jury foreman selection procedure as established by Section 905.08, Florida Statutes, (1981) is susceptible of abuse. That section, which is the only section relating to grand jury foreman selection, says only:

> After the grand jury has been impaneled, the court shall appoint one of the grand jurors as foreman and another to act as foreman during absence of the foreman.

In <u>Rose</u> the Supreme Court found that a very similar procedure used in the courts of the State of Tennessee was susceptible of abuse. <u>Rose v. Mitchell</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 443 U.S. 566 and n.2 at 443 U.S. 548. Proof of the third requirement, the statistical proof of discrimination by use of the rule of exclusion, is similarly convincing. In the last quarter century 50 grand jury foremen have been selected (R-72). During that period the black population of Leon County averaged over 25 per cent of the total population of Leon County (R-72). Yet only one of the 50 grand jury foremen was black (R-72). The likelihood of such situation occurring absent racial consideration is so small that it precludes any reasonable belief that the situation might have occurred merely by chance. Clearly, the requirements of the rule of exclusion

^{3.} If we assume that the relative proportion of black citizens to the total population of Leon County was: only 25 per cent or 1/4 during each of the 50 selections of grand jury foremen over the 25 year period, and this is a conservative assumption in light of the stipulation and the actual 1980 census figures (see 1980 U.S. Census Publication PHC 80-V-11, May 1981, which indicates a 1980 Leon County population of 149,795, of which 39,189 were non-white), it is seen that the probability of select-ing no black grand jury foremen, absent racial considerations, is represented by (1/2) (3/4), which when calculated is (3/4° or (.75)⁵⁰ or .0000005663. Thus, it clearly appears that there was only one (1) chance in 1,666,666 that mere chance could have been the cause for no black jury foremen being selected.

are met.

Therefore, Burr has satisfied each of the three requirements to establish a prima facie case of racial discrimination in violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Consequently, "the burden of proof shifts to the state to rebut the presumption of unconstitutional action by showing that permissible racially neutral selection criteria and procedures have produced the monochromatic result." <u>Alexander v. Louisiana, supra, at 405 U.S. 631 and 632. Also see Turner v. Fouche, 396 U.S. 346, 90 S.Ct. 532, 24 L.Ed.2d 567 (1970); Eubanks v.</u> <u>Louisiana, supra; Castaneda v. Partida, supra; and Rose v. Mitchell, supra.</u> Moreover, the state acknowledged that a prima facie case of racial discrimination in selection of Leon County grand jury foremen had been established:

> MR. MEGGS [prosecutor]: Judge, these cases, Rose versus Mitchell does, as Mr. Murrell pointed out, established a procedure whereby that if there is a class singled out and then if there's a comparison to the proportions in the population, then what that does, if there have been no blacks, that could make out a prima facie case. And all the cases seem to indicate that once that has been done, that the burden of proof shifts from the defendant to show that it should be dismissed and that it was racially motivated, over the state.

I think, in all fairness to our judiciary, that the State has presented testimony to this Court that our selection process of the grand jury in Leon County and in this Circuit is and has been racially neutral, even though the statistics maybe don't bear that out. All that did was make a prima facie case to get us where we are. 25R-22. [Emphasis Added.] (ISR-23).

The state, however, presented little evidence to rebut this presumption of racial discrimination. The only relevant testimony in this regard came

-11-

from Judge Rudd and Judge Willis. Judge Rudd said:

Q. Now what do you look for as the presiding judge, in the selection of a grand jury foreman? What are you looking for specifically in your selection process?

A. A person who in my opinion has had the county's interest at heart and will continue to have the county's interest at heart, and particularly for leader-ship qualities to head up a group of people for six months, 18 people for six months. I want one with leadership qualities to avoid having a run-away grand jury that will go off on a tangent and won't be responsible.

Q. All right, sir, now do you in making that selection, do you make the selection on the basis of the color of the skin of the person that you may select?

A. No. 32 (1SR-70)

The relevant portion of Judge Willis' testimony was as follows:

Q. Once that grand jury is impaneled, then what procedure have you yourself used... to select the foreman and the vice-foreman of that particular grand jury that has been impaneled?

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