IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES LEWIS BURR,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.





ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANDREW THOMAS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

THE CAPITOL, 1502
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

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

In the instant case only one objection was voiced by Appellant's counsel regarding the prosecutor's closing argument and it was made upon a solitary ground. (R 1458-1460). Appellant's counsel moved for a mistrial, arguing that comments regarding "threats" were prejudicial to Appellant. (R 1459). The trial court denied the motion, concluding any such comments were but fair inferences from the evidence presented. (R 1459, 1460). The prosecutor in fact only stated that "people are scared in this case" (R 1428) and that the Appellant "executes people." (R 1443). In fact, both state-

ments were supported by the evidence. Domita Williams was afraid of Appellant. (R 856, 862, 1307, 1308, 1311). The evidence amply supported the conclusion that Steve Harty was murdered execution-style as well. (R 870, 888, 965, 966, 969).

The prosecutor stated that Williams was afraid; she herself had said so. The prosecutor never stated that anyone had directly threatened anyone. It is well-established that considerable latitude is allowed in arguments on the merits of a case and that logical inferences from the evidence are permissable. Thomas v. State, 326 So.2d 413, 414, 415 (Fla. 1975); Spencer v. State, 133 So.2d 729, 731 (Fla. 1961), cert. denied, 369 U.S. 880 (1962). Appellee submits that the comments objected to were based upon the evidence and logical inference from that evidence.

Further, "the power to declare a mistrial and discharge a jury should be exercised with great care and caution and should be done only in cases of absolute necessity."

Salvatore v. State, 366 So.2d 745, 750 (Fla. 1978); Sykes v.

State, 329 So.2d 356, 359 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976). See also:

United States v. Hastings, ___ U.S. ___ (1983) [33 Cr.L.R.

3091, 3093 at n.5]. The declaration of a mistrial is appropriate only if the error committed is so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. Cobb v. State, 376 So.2d 230

(Fla. 1979). Appellee submits no error existed so no mistrial was called for. Even if this Court disapproves of the com-

plained-of comments, it is obvious that no prejudice resulted to Appellant. The jury already knew that witnesses were vacillating and also knew at least one witness was scared of Appellant. The jury saw the witnesses in person. Perhaps their faces did show fear. See: Palmes v. State, 397 So.2d 648, 653 (Fla. 1981); and § 924.33, Florida Statutes (1981).

As to the remainder of the comments now challenged, this Court should not review them since no objections whatsoever were made. Steinhorst, supra. Appellant apparently contends that fundamental error occurred. Fundamental error exists only "where the issue reaches right down into the very legality of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict could not have been obtained without the assistance of the error alleged." Gibson v. State, 194 So.2d 19, 20 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1967). Moreover, Florida courts are wary of allowing the fundamental error rule to become an "open sesame" for consideration of alleged trial errors not preserved for review.

Id. at 19. This Court has stated that "every constitutional issue does not amount to fundamental error cognizable initially upon appeal." State v. Smith, 240 So.2d 807, 810 (Fla. 1970).

Appellee submits no fundamental error was made during the closing arguments of Appellant's trial.

Appellant complains about being referred to as the "master of disaster." (AB 32, 33). Beyond the fact that there was no objection to this, Appellant's "master red" shirt was in evidence (R 910) and it was displayed to the jury.

(R 1424). Appellant wore that shirt and advertised to all that he considered himself the "master of disaster." Any comments by the prosecutor were fair and based upon the evidence. Collins v. State, 180 So.2d 340 (Fla. 1965).

Wilson v. State, 294 So.2d 327 (Fla. 1974), is distinguishable. That defendant was acquitted of a charge of murdering her husband and subsequently tried for perjury. The prosecutor therein referred to the murder 16 times, three times accusing the defendant of committing it outright. Id. at 329. There were numerous other comments held to be improper. This Court stated that an "accused cannot be convicted of murder under the guise of perjury..." and noted that the entire "flavor" of the trial amounted to a retrial on the murder charge. Id. at 329. Further, objections were voiced and sustained in Wilson, yet the prosecutor persisted. The present case is entirely different.

Nor does <u>Glassman v. State</u>, 377 So.2d 208 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), support Appellant's position. In <u>Glassman</u> the prosecutor, in between numerous objections and requests for a mistrial, repeatedly implied that the defendant was guilty of a "whole series of criminal offenses for which the defendant was not on trial," accused the defendant of making his living by filing false insurance claims, accused the defendant of perjury, and attacked the defendant as a "quack-quack." Id. at 210, 211. Glassman is distinguishable.

Green v. State, 427 So.2d 1036 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983), is equally distinguishable. Green involved numerous

alleged errors and objections were voiced. No tangible evidence established the defendant referred to herself as a "dragon lady," rather the references were "the prosecutor's own prejudicial characterizations'." Id. at 1038. Such is not the case herein. Appellant wore a shirt announcing to the world that he was the "master of disaster."

Appellant particularly perverts the holding in Davis v. State, 397 So.2d 1005 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). Davis involved impeachment of a testifying defendant by means of prior convictions; it did not deal with similar fact evidence at all.

Appellant complains of his counsel being called the "master of confusion;" Appellant's counsel did not do so at trial. Even the trial court humorously referred to the rhetoric, but counsel never objected. (R 1459). The prosecutor explained the label. (R 1437; "... I don't brand him the Master of Confusion other than just for emphasis.")

Appellant's counsel used the label in his own argument. (R 1471, 1473; "I don't know whether to take that as a compliment or not;" "Mr. Meggs is a pretty good master of confusion himself. I think he's the teacher, in fact.") This was no more than legal sparring and was not prejudicial to Appellant. Juries are presumed to be more intelligent than to be led astray by such rhetoric. Paramore v. State, 229 So.2d 855, 860 (Fla. 1969), modified, 408 U.S. 935 (1972).

Finally, any reference to Ed McFarland was supported

by the record. Minnie Pompey admitted she had never told her story until Ed McFarland contacted her the week before trial. (R 1174). Ruth Grant didn't tell her story until McFarland contacted her the week before trial. (R 1203). Valarie Grant testified similarly. (R 1224). Surely the prosecutor could point out to the jury how many of the defense witnesses had surfaced late in the investigation. Any comment was no more than fair comment.

In summary:

Defendant also argues that the prosecutor, in his closing argument, improperly "continued to use his own comments to influence the jury", and made other statements not supported by the record. We have reviewed the transcript, and are of the opinion that there was a basis in the record for the allegedly unsupported statements.

As for the other comments complained of, we cannot say that they were "of such a nature so as to poison the minds of the jurors or to prejudice them so that a fair and impartial verdict could not be rendered." Oliva v. State, 346 So.2d 1066, 1068-69 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 1010, 98 S.Ct 719, 54 L.Ed.2d 752 (1978). They did not "materially contribute to this conviction" Zamot v. State, 375 So.2d 881, 883 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979) were not "so harmful or fundamentally tainted so as to require a new trial", Smith v. State, 354 So.2d 477, 478 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); and were not so inflammatory that they "might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict of guilt than it would have otherwise ...", <u>Darden v. State</u>, 329 So.2d 287, 289 (Fla.1976), <u>cert. dismissed</u>, 430 U.S. 704, 97 S.Ct. 1671, 51 L.Ed.2d 751 (1977). As we noted in Paramore v. State, 229 So.2d 855, 860 (Fla. 1969), modified, 408 U.S. 935, 92 S.Ct. 2857, 33 L.Ed.2d 751 (1972), "it will not be presumed that ... [jurors] are led astray, to wrongful verdicts, by the impassioned eloquence and illogical pathos of counsel." The statements here

complained of do not warrant a new trial for defendant.

Blair v. State, 406 So.2d 1103, 1107, (Fla. 1981).

So it is here.

ISSUE V

THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE VERDICTS OF GUILT; APPELLANT SHOULD NOT BE AFFORDED A NEW TRIAL

[Appellant's Issue II as restated by Appellee]

a. Sufficiency of the Evidence

It has long been established that when a criminal defendant moves for a judgment of acquittal that "he admit[s] the facts adduced in evidence and every conclusion favorable to appellee which is fairly and resaonably inferable therefrom." Spinkellink v. State, 313 So.2d 666, 670 (Fla. 1975), cert. denied, 428 U.S. 911 (1976), reh.denied, 429 U.S. 874 (1976). In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a jury verdict of guilty:

[A]n appellate court should not retry a case or reweigh conflicting evidence submitted to a jury or other trier of fact. Rather, the concern on appeal must be whether, after all conflicts in the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom have been resolved in favor of the verdict on appeal, there is substantial, competent evidence to support the verdict and judgment. Legal sufficiency alone, as opposed to evidentiary weight, is the appropriate concern of an appellate tribunal.

<u>Tibbs v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 1120, 1123 (Fla. 1981). <u>See also Lynch v. State</u>, 293 So.2d 44 (Fla. 1974); <u>Brown v. State</u>, 294 So.2d 128 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1974).

Furthermore, the test to be applied to a motion for judgment of acquittal by both trial and appellate courts is

not whether the totality of the evidence, in the opinion of the court, fails to exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence, but whether a jury might reasonably so conclude.

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979); Roberts v. United

States, 416 F.2d 1216 (5th Cir. 1969); Victor v. State,

193 So. 762 (Fla. 1940); Amato v. State, 296 So.2d 609 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1974); Tillman v. State, 353 So.2d 948 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); Peek v. State, 395 So.2d 492 (Fla. 1980), cert. denied,

451 U.S. 964 (1981); Rose v. State, 425 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1982).

Appellant is no doubt well-acquainted with the above standard (AB 17), but he contends it does not apply in this case. Such a contention is unsupportable. Appellant would have this Court create an exception to the well-established standard of review based upon the facts of his case. Understandably, Appellant cites no authority to support his contention.

This Court has stated that "... when it is shown that the jurors have performed their duty faithfully and honestly and have reached a reasonable conclusion, more than a difference of opinion as to what the evidence shows is required for this Court to reverse them." <a href="https://discrete-htt

Further, it is well settled that the credibility of witnesses and the weight to be given testimony is for the jury to decide. Hitchcock v. State, supra; Clark v. State, 379 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1979), Coco v. State, 80 So.2d 346 (Fla.), cert. denied, 349 U.S. 931, cert. denied, 350 U.S. 828 (1955). The jury's province is not eroded simply because a witness vacillates in her testimony.

The jury concluded that Appellant murdered and robbed Steve Harty beyond any reasonable doubt. (R 288-291). In so concluding, as Appellant's counsel argued on closing (R 1467, 1499, 1500, 1505), the jury had to accept Domita Williams' original testimony and reject her later testimony. They did so for good reason. Katrine Jackson's testimony corroborated Williams' original testimony and contradicted her later testimony. (R 921, 957, 958). Tammy Footman's rebuttal testimony did the same. (R 1357-1361). Katherine Haygood's testimony did the same. (R 1136, 1137). The jury specifically focused on the testimony of the above three witnesses, asking that it be read back to them during deliberations. (R 1553).

Further, the jury knew that Williams' original trial testimony was consistent with her initial statement to police, her grand jury testimony, her deposition testimony, and what she had told the prosecutor again the Friday before trial. (R 1278, 1279, 1295-1302). Her later testimony was inconsistent with all prior recorded statements and consistent

with nothing but the recently discovered testimony of her mother, aunt, and cousin. (R 1174, 1203, 1224). Two of the three defense witnesses who testified for the purposes of disputing Williams' original testimony and possibly creating a "mystery man" suspect admitted they were unsure of the time they were at the Suwannee Swifty the morning of the robbery/murder. (R 1089, 1096, 1097). As Appellant's counsel noted during his closing argument, the key issue in the trial was the identity of the person who committed the criminal acts. (R 1464). Williams identified that person as Appellant and other witnesses supported that identity by verifying portions of Williams' original testimony. The jury concluded, upon substantial, competent eivdence, that Appellant committed the crimes charged.

Even where a defendant's testimony is consistent with a hypothesis of innocence, a jury has the right to deem that hypothesis wholly unreasonable and reject it. McBride v. State, 191 So.2d 70 (Fla.1st DCA 1966); Conner v. State, 106 So.2d 416 (Fla. 1958). In the instant case the jury obviously deemed Williams's defense testimony as unreasonable and rejected it. She admitted being afraid of Appellant (R 856, 862, 1307, 1308, 1311) and that she didn't "think" she would have changed her testimony except for Appellant's counsel's call the previous evening. (R 1307). She contradicted what other defense witnesses had stated in their testimony. (R 1309; compare to R 1140-1144; and R 1289; compare

to R 1195). Finally, she was aware Appellant was facing the "chair" (R 1294) and she only decided to "tell the truth" when she became aware the State had little evidence against Appellant outside of her. (R 1303, 1304).

As to recantation testimony generally, this Court has stated that such testimony is "exceedingly unreliable."

Henderson v. State, 135 Fla.548, 185 So. 625, 630 (1939).

The jury properly so concluded in the instant case. Appellee submits the evidence was sufficient to sustain the verdicts of guilt.

b. In the Interest of Justice

Appellant contends that he was denied "due process" at his trial due to the "many unfair things" which occurred.

(AB 20). While Appellant's trial was full of suspense and the lawyers involved were jockeying for position throughout,

Appellee submits it was a fair trial and no new trial should be granted.

Appellant cites three cases as examples of where new trials were granted in the interest of justice. They are worthy of scrutiny. <u>Dukes v. State</u>, 356 So.2d 873 (Fla.4th DCA 1978), involved prosecutorial transgressions deemed so serious as to amount to fundamental error, i.e., the district court ordered a new trial in the absence of defense objection to many of the perceived wrongs. The prosecutor there improperly impeached the defendant and his key witness and then

utliized the improperly adduced evidence to prejudice the jury during closing arguments. The district court noted that the prosecutor also violated Canon 7, DR 7-16 of the Code of Professional Responsibility by asserting his personal belief as to the credibility of witnesses. <u>Id</u>. at 876. Besides the obvious distinction that <u>Dukes</u> involved prejudicial comments made directly to the jury, the case is in no manner similar to the instant case.

Wright v. State, 348 So.2d 26 (Fla.1st DCA 1977), was primarily a sufficiency of the evidence case. Id. at 31. Also, the district court perceived the fundamental error to be the admission of a medical examiner's testimony, the only "proof" of premeditation, which the court deemed to be conjecture beyond the competence of the witness. Id. at 31. The district court vacillated on the fundamental error issue, at one point stating "even if such evidence is beyond review, [due to lack of objection to its admission], we must consider the fact that there were no witnesses to the events causing death." Id. at 27. Wright was clearly a sufficiency of the evidence case.

Webb v. State, ____ So.2d ___ (Fla. April 14, 1983) [8 F.L.W. 145], Case No. 58, 306, rehearing denied July 12, 1983, stands for nothing more than the established fact that this Court will review the entire record in capital cases "in the interest of justice." Id. This Court most assuredly did not grant Solomon Webb a new trial; the conviction was affirmed. Id. at 146.

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